THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Post Conviction Relief

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001136

---

Rasheed Glover, 367438,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner,

Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR WRIT  
OF CERTIORARI

---

TRICIA A. BLANCHETTE  
Post Office Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 12 2022**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether the lower court erred for failing to find counsel provided ineffective assistance during sentencing and post-trial motion hearings and that prejudice resulted.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Horry County Clerk of Court. During the March 2015 term of the Horry County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for armed robbery (2015-GS-26-01237). App. p. 217.

On October 12, 2015, trial proceeded against Petitioner *in absentia* before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran and a jury. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Johnny Gardner, Esquire. The State was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor, and Thomas G. Terrell, III, Assistant Solicitor. On October 13, 2015, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. p. 202. The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran issued and sealed Petitioner's sentence. App. p. 203.

On March 15, 2016, Petitioner appeared in front of the Honorable Steven H. John at the Horry County Courthouse. App. p. 205. Petitioner was represented by Jarrett Bouchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor. After Judge John unsealed Petitioner's twenty-five year sentence, Mr. Bouchette stated that the defense had no motions. App. pp. 207-208. Thereafter, the court indicated that he appreciated Mr. Bouchette's response, but he determined that the matter should be held in abeyance until Mr. Gardner could be present. App. pp. 208-209.

On March 17, 2016, the matter was resumed in front of the Honorable Steven H. John at the Horry County Courthouse. App. p. 209. Petitioner was present and was presented by Johnny Gardner, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor. After addressing the abeyance due to Mr. Gardner's absence while in trial, the court heard from both sides. The court noted that he did not

have a transcript and was not the trial judge before declining to reduce the sentence imposed by Judge Cothran or grant a new trial. App. pp. 213-214.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and Katherine H. Hudgins, Esquire, perfected the appeal. An *Anders* Brief was submitted and addressed the following issue:

Did the judge who unsealed and pronounced sentence following a trial in the Appellant's absence abuse his discretion in refusing to reconsider the twenty-five year sentence imposed by the trial judge when a co-defendant received a lesser sentence and the record fails to reflect on appropriate basis for the disparate sentence?

App. p. 241. On May 17, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal. *State v. Glover*, 2017-UP-210 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 17, 2017);

App. p. 255. The Remittitur was issued on June 2, 2017. App. p. 257.

Petitioner filed an Application for Post Conviction Relief filed on May 2, 2018.

App. p. 258. Respondent submitted a Return and Motion to Dismiss on August 2, 2018.

App. p. 268. On February 24, 2020, Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment to Application for Post Conviction Relief, which stated the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to actively negotiate a plea offer and/or ensure that Applicant had the opportunity to properly reject the opportunity to enter a guilty plea.
2. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to properly advise Applicant about being tried in his absence if he did not appear for trial.
3. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to move for a continuance prior to jury selection and/or object to the trial in Applicant's absence.
4. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to offer meaningful representation during the sentencing phase of Applicant's trial.

5. Ineffective assistance of counsel related to the hearing to open Applicant's sentence and for post trial motions, specifically, but not limited to: a) Failure to have knowledge of, prepare for and be present at the hearing opening Applicant's sentence. Additionally, failure to ensure that the representative that appeared on his behalf was properly prepared and advocating for Applicant; b) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make an oral or written request and/or objection for additional time and/or for the trial court to hear Applicant's post trial motions; c) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to be properly prepared to provide information beneficial to Applicant or make arguments at the final motion hearing.

App. pp. 282. Via the Amendment, Petitioner requested "relief in the form of having his conviction and sentences vacated to allow for a new trial and/or whatever relief the Court deems proper, which may be in the form of a reconsideration hearing." App. p. 281.

On March 31, 2021, an evidentiary hearing was convened on the South Carolina Supreme Court's virtual platform in front of the Honorable Paul M. Burch. App. p. 284. Petitioner was present at Lee Correctional Institution, and he was represented virtually by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire.<sup>1</sup> Respondent was represented by William Ray, Esquire. Petitioner testified and called Johnny Gardner, Esquire, Sammantha Daley and Roslyn Glover to the stand. Petitioner introduced two exhibits. The court also had before him a copy of the records stemming from Petitioner's underlying trial and appeal.

At the close of the evidentiary hearing, the court requested proposed orders from both parties and allowed Petitioner's counsel time to obtain the evidentiary hearing transcript. Upon receipt of the requested orders, the Honorable Paul M. Burch issued an Order of Dismissal on May 7, 2021, which was filed on May 11, 2021. App. p. 373.

Petitioner, through counsel, timely filed a Rule 59, SCRCP, Motion on July 2, 2021, which incorporated his proposed Order. App. p. 404. The Honorable Paul M. Burch issued an Order Denying Applicant's Motion Pursuant to Rule 59(a) and (e),

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner and his counsel communicated privately via telephone during the evidentiary hearing.

SCRCF on August 30, 2021, which was filed on September 1, 2021. App. p. 445. A Notice of Appeal was filed on October 7, 2021, from which this Petition follows.

### ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). This guarantee of effective assistance carries through to sentencing proceedings. *See Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 132 S.Ct. 1376, *Glover v. United States*, 531 U.S. 198, 203–204, 121 S.Ct. 696, 604 (2001), *Mempa v. Rhay*, 389 U.S. 128, 88 S.Ct. 254 (1967), *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 538, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003), and *Locklear v. Harvey*, 254 S.E.2d 293, 273 S.C. 58 (1979).

Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Id.* 466 U.S. at 686; *see Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Bell v. State*, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); *see also Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 238 (1989); Rule 71.1(e), SCRCF.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's

performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18. Even though sentencing does not concern the defendant's guilt or innocence, ineffective assistance of counsel during a sentencing hearing can result in *Strickland* prejudice because "any amount of [additional] jail time has Sixth Amendment significance." *Glover*, 531 U.S. at 203, 121 S.Ct. 696.

- I. The lower court erred for failing to find counsel provided ineffective assistance during sentencing and post-trial motion hearings and that prejudice resulted.

By way of his Amendment, Petitioner made the following allegations regarding trial counsel's performance at sentencing, the opening of his sentence and post-trial motions:

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to offer meaningful representation during the sentencing phase of Applicant's trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of counsel related to the hearing to open Applicant's sentence and for post trial motions, specifically, but not limited to: a) Failure to have knowledge of, prepare for and be present at the hearing opening Applicant's sentence. Additionally, failure to ensure that the representative that appeared on his behalf was properly prepared and advocating for Applicant; b) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make an oral or written request and/or objection for additional time and/or for the trial court to hear Applicant's post trial motions; c) Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to be properly prepared to provide information beneficial to Applicant or make arguments at the final motion hearing.

As is argued in the Rule 59, SCRCF, Motion, the lower court failed to fully address the allegations related to counsel's representation during sentencing and the post trial motions as addressed in the Amendment and at the evidentiary hearing. In reliance

on *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007), Petitioner requested that the lower court make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law to each issue presented at the evidentiary hearing and Petitioner noted areas of specific concern in the Order. In denying the Rule 59, SCRPC, Motion, the lower court declined to alter or amend the Order, properly address the issues as raised prior to and at the evidentiary hearing, and make findings supported by the record. Therefore, Petitioner urges this Court to consider the issues as addressed herein and address the failure of the lower court to make proper findings of fact and conclusions of law.<sup>2</sup> Petitioner submits that if such is done, relief should be granted.

Upon review of the record, Petitioner urges this Court to find that the lower court must be reversed since Petitioner did not receive effective assistance during sentencing and the post-trial motion hearings and prejudice resulted. Here, the lower court's reliance on Petitioner absence from trial and the jury's verdict to preclude a finding of prejudice is contrary to the holding in *Glover* that ineffective assistance of counsel during a sentencing hearing can result in *Strickland* prejudice because "any amount of [additional] jail time has Sixth Amendment significance." *Glover*, 531 U.S. at 203, 121 S.Ct. 696. Here, the length of Petitioner's sentence, along with the failure to have it properly

---

<sup>2</sup> See *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992) (Remanding and explaining the Court's concern with PCR orders that fail to address the issues raised at a PCR hearing, which result in depriving parties of rulings on the issues, make review by the appellate court and the workload of the appellate court more difficult, and require remand for new hearings and/or orders.); *Reese v. State*, 425 S.C. 108, 820 S.E.2d 376 (2018) (Granting the request for remand by both parties as result of the "patent inadequacies" of the PCR court's order.); *Fishburne v. State*, 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019) (Remanding for the PCR court to make adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding an unaddressed PCR claim despite a Rule 59, SCRPC, motion not being filed.). See also *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 195, 810 S.E.2d 836, 847 (2018), *Ramirez v. State*, 419 S.C. 14, 21 n.6, 795 S.E.2d 841, 845 n.6 (2017), *Simmons v. State*, 416 S.C. 584, 592, 788 S.E.2d 220, 225 (2016), *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 249 n.5, 785 S.E.2d 471, 476 n.5 (2016), *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 364-65, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004), *Bryson v. State*, 328 S.C. 236, 236-37, 493 S.E.2d 500, 500 (1997), *McCullough v. State*, 320 S.C. 270, 272, 464 S.E.2d 340, 341 (1995), *McCray v. State*, 305 S.C. 329, 330, 408 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1991).

reconsidered, speaks directly to the prejudice that resulted from counsel's admitted ineffective assistance.

As addressed above, Petitioner was tried in his absence before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran and a jury on October 12, 2015. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Johnny Gardner, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor, and Thomas G. Terrell, III, Assistant Solicitor. On October 13, 2015, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. p. 202. The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran issued and sealed Petitioner's sentence. App. p. 203.

On March 15, 2016, Petitioner appeared in front of the Honorable Steven H. John at the Horry County Courthouse. Petitioner was represented by Jarrett Bouchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor. At the beginning of the hearing, Ms. Richardson stated that Petitioner was tried in his absence and his sentence was sealed by Judge Cothran. App. p. 207, lns. 2-9. She further stated: "We are before you today to reveal that sealed sentence." App. p. 207, lns. 8-9. Thereafter, Judge John asked if Mr. Gardner was trial counsel. The State responded that Mr. Gardner was in trial, but a representative from his office was present. App. p. 207.

After Judge John unsealed and pronounced Petitioner's twenty-five year sentence, Mr. Bouchette spoke for the first time and stated that the defense had no motions. App. p. 208, ln. 1. In response, Judge John stated:

All right, sir. Well, I appreciate it but and that's probably one of the reasons I was asking if Mr. Gardner was to be present. If you want to – want me to hold this in abeyance for a – until Mr. Gardner is available this particular week, you understand should have any objections to the sentence, you want the sentence modified in any way, if you want to ask the Court to change it in any way, you need to do that while this matter is now open. You have the ability to do so. The Supreme Court has said so in more than one case. But now is the time to do that.

App. p. 208, Ins. 2-11. Mr. Bouchette responded he had been informed about the hearing that afternoon. He requested that the matter be held in abeyance until Mr. Gardner could be present since he was not at Petitioner's trial. App. p. 208, Ins. 12-17. After the State informed the court that the trial should conclude on Wednesday, Judge John determined that the matter would reconvene on Thursday morning. App. pp. 208-209.

On March 17, 2016, the matter was reconvened in front of Judge John at the Horry County Courthouse. App. p. 209. Petitioner was presented by Johnny Gardner, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Lauree Richardson, Assistant Solicitor.

At the beginning of the hearing, Judge John stated that he had unsealed the sentence and had continued the matter since Mr. Gardner was "unavailable to make any motions." App. p. 209, Ins. 10-17. He stated: "You understand that once the Court opens the sealed sentence, that is the time for the Defense if they have any issues as to the prior matter to bring those to the Court's attention." App. p. 209, Ins. 17-20. Mr. Gardner responded that he "would make our standard post trial motions" and that he believed the court had the power to reconsider the sentence. App. pp. 209-210. He explained that he had been in the middle of another trial and had done a little research regarding the "power" of the court. App. p. 210, Ins. 1-4. Judge John responded that despite some "logical inconsistencies with it" the Supreme Court had found that "whoever opens the sealed sentence has the authority to change the prior sentence." App. p. 210, Ins. 5-9. Then, he invited Mr. Gardner to argue against the prior sentence. App. p. 210, Ins. 9-11.

In response, Mr. Gardner stated that to the "best of his information" Petitioner did not have a prior record, but he acknowledged the current conviction was a "big one." App. p. 210, Ins. 12-15. He also stated that he believed that the co-defendant's all got ten

and “the ten-year mark is probably fair.” App. p. 210, lns. 15-19. He added that Petitioner was twenty, was not married, had no children and lives in Horry County. App. p. 210, lns. 21-22.

After being asked to make her argument, Ms. Richardson stated that Mr. Gardner was correct about the co-defendant’s sentences, and she took the opportunity to address the roles of each and summarize the facts presented at trial. App. pp. 211-212. She argued that it was a “very, very serious crime” at a time when “a lot of clerks were getting killed” and the victim clerk was “very fearful” to testify at trial. App. p. 212, lns. 4-7. She concluded by arguing: “The State would oppose any reduction in sentence just based upon the fact that Judge Cothran was the sentencing judge. He’s the trial judge, he’s the one that heard the facts in the case.” App. p. 212, lns. 7-10. In response, Mr. Gardner asked the court to consider a ten-to-fifteen-year sentence. App. p. 212, lns. 22-24.

In his ruling declining to change the sentence or grant a new trial, Judge John first noted that he did not have the transcript to review and he was not the judge who listened to the testimony in the matter. App. p. 213. He noted that he was basing his ruling on the classification of armed robbery as a violent and most serious offense. He also noted that he was taking into consideration the facts and circumstances addressed by the State. He concluded his ruling by stating: “I respectfully decline to grant the request of the Defense to change the sentence of Judge Cothran.” App. p. 213, lns. 17-18.<sup>3</sup>

Turning to the testimony elicited at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner acknowledged that he made a decision to not attend trial because he was afraid. App. pp.

---

<sup>3</sup> Judge John also found that he had not been presented with any matters sufficient to grant a request for a new trial. App. p. 213, lns. 19-25.

302, 316. He explained that he was subsequently arrested in Horry County, and he was taken to the county detention center. App. p. 305. When asked to describe what happened on the morning of March 15, 2016, he responded:

March 15<sup>th</sup>, transportation came and arrived at the jail and transported me to the courthouse. I didn't know exactly what was going on because I wasn't told. I just figured it had something to do with the charges. Once I arrived here I was told a lawyer would meet with you in the back if they didn't make it to the jail. I went inside the courtroom and Johnny Gardner's partner, Mr. Bouchette, was present and I was given the sentence of 25 years.

App. p. 305, lns. 13-20. He explained that he was unaware that Mr. Gardner was in trial, that he did not speak with Mr. Bouchette before the hearing, that he was not aware that Mr. Bouchette was going to be at the hearing on Mr. Gardner's behalf, and that he had not discussed the making of motions or arguments with counsel prior to the hearing. App. pp. 305-306. He further explained that he did not get to speak with Mr. Gardner after the hearing and that they only spoke briefly as they were "in a rush" to get into the courtroom for the March 17<sup>th</sup> hearing. App. pp. 306-307, 322.

When asked about the hearing on March 17, 2016, Petitioner responded that he would have wanted time with his attorney to discuss arguments to be made, people that could speak on his behalf and to be prepared to address the court himself. App. pp. 307-309, 323. He indicated that letters had been obtained and witnesses were present to address what could have been presented in 2016. App. p. 309. He also testified about what he would have wanted to tell the court. App. p. 309-310. When asked about the break taken by counsel to confer with him, he recalled asking counsel about getting a sentence in line with his co-defendants. App. p. 311.

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