STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Apr 13 2022

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Trial Judge
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001136

RASHEED GLOVER.....Petitioner.

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

She noted that Ellerbe and Phillips had weapons, and that Ellerbe was wearing a black jacket and a hat. (App. 137-38). They all attempted to brush the mud off their shoes and Ellerbe took off his hat when he re-entered the truck. (App. 138). Collier stated that Petitioner had carried an extra pair of shoes with him and changed into them after the robbery. (App. 139). Petitioner told her to throw away the shoes and gloves, which she did after they left the vehicle.

(App. 143).

Collier stated that she became involved because Petitioner was very manipulative and she wanted his approval. (App. 141). She turned herself into police several weeks later and gave a written statement inconsistent with her testimony in court. (App. 145-46). She explained that Petitioner told her what to tell the police and she made the misleading statement because she was afraid. (App. 146, 156). Petitioner was the mastermind of the robbery, and him and Ellerbe were the ringleaders. (App. 151).

Amontre Ellerbe testified that he was incarcerated for armed robbery after robbing the Scotchman with Petitioner, Phillips, Coles, and Collier. (App. 159). He entered a guilty plea prior to Petitioner's trial. (App. 159). He and Petitioner were the two men who went into the store with guns and committed the crime. (App. 160). The original plan was for everyone to go into the store, but Coles and Phillips backed out, and chose to stand behind the building. (App. 162). He stated that Petitioner changed his clothes after the robbery, losing his red hoodie and putting on a pair of black Vans, before leaving the shoes in the getaway vehicle. (App. 162-69). Ellerbe testified that he was wearing a black hoodie at the time. (App. 164). He stated that it was Petitioner's plan to rob the store and that he was testifying against him because Petitioner had tried to blame him for everything. (App. 165-66, 168).

Petitioner failed to appear at trial and was tried *in absentia* by a jury and the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, circuit court judge. At the close of his trial, the judge stated that "when he's arrested, I don't know if I'll still be here or not but you can bring him before some judge and he'll open this sentence and read it to him and see what happens." (App. 203). His sentence was sealed and a bench warrant was issued for his failure to appear. (App. 203). Two arrest warrants were also issued, one for escape and another for removing an electronic monitoring device, after

his GPS monitor was found in the parking lot of a Conway apartment complex. The two arrest warrants were dismissed in February of 2016.

Petitioner was apprehended the following March and was brought before the Honorable Steven H. John for his sentencing hearing. (App. 205-14). Petitioner's Counsel was involved in another trial at the time, so another attorney, Jarrett Bouchette, was sent to the hearing in his place. (App. 207-08). Attorney Bouchette stated that he had no post-trial motions to make, but requested that the matter be held in abeyance until Counsel could appear. (App. 208).

Counsel appeared two days later and moved for a new trial and for reconsideration of the sentence. (App. 209-14). He stated that after researching the issue, he believed that the Court could reconsider the sentence. (App. 210). The Court agreed with him, stating that "whoever opens the sealed sentence by that Supreme Court decision does have the authority to change the prior sentence issued in this matter." (App. 210). In support of the motion, Counsel argued that Petitioner had no prior record, his co-defendants had received ten years' imprisonment, and he was an unmarried twenty-year old with no children. (App. 210).

The prosecutor responded by arguing that the co-defendants had entered guilty pleas prior to Petitioner's trial, and the two who received ten-year sentences were Phillips and Coles, who had not entered the store. (App. 211). Ellerbe had also entered a plea, but received a fifteen-year sentence, which was reduced to ten after he cooperated with the State by testifying against Petitioner. (App. 211). Judge Cothran was the judge who resentenced Ellerbe, and reduced the sentence to ten years after hearing the trial and determining that the testimony was essential to the conviction. (App. 211). She also pointed out that evidence was presented at trial showing that both Petitioner and Ellerbe were armed, and the robbery was planned during a time when "a lot of clerks were getting killed" in Horry County. (App. 211-12). The State opposed resentencing

because Judge Cothran was the one who heard these facts. (App. 212). After consulting with Petitioner, Counsel requested a ten or fifteen-year sentence. (App. 212).

Judge John declined to modify the sentence, stating that there was no trial transcript at that time, Judge Cothran was the one who had heard the testimony, and because of the severity of the crime, and the large role Petitioner played in the commission of the crime. (App. 213).

Judge John also refused to grant a new trial because no sufficient showing to grant such a request had been made. (App. 213-14).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for PCR matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Overall, reviewing courts “give[] great deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law”, *Dempsey v. State*, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005), with the applicant shouldering the burden of proof. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCPP; *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Further, a PCR court’s findings will be upheld if there is “any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them.” *Id.* Reversal of the lower court’s findings occurs when there is no probative evidence to support the initial finding. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 526 S.E.2d 222 (2000). Courts must conduct a *de novo* review when evaluating questions of law and are required to reverse the initial holding when the decision is controlled by an error of law. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40; *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found that Counsel’s representation was not ineffective because he employed an objectively reasonable trial strategy in the sentencing phase of the trial, and where no other actions would have reasonably changed the outcome of trial.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because counsel provided ineffective assistance during sentencing and post-trial motion hearings and that prejudice resulted. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel acted reasonably, given the circumstances he was under, and no other actions on the part of Counsel would have changed the results at trial. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving allegations contained in the application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Effective assistance of counsel does not mean perfect or mistake-free representation. *See Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 137 S. Ct. 1899 (2017) (“[A] defendant has a right to effective representation, not a right to an attorney who performs his duties ‘mistake-free.’” (citation omitted)); *Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment does not guarantee the right to perfect counsel; it promises only the right to effective assistance[.]”); *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (“The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.”). Instead, it simply means assistance that was objectively reasonable under prevailing professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

When an applicant asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must show “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v.*

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the applicant must prove defense counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC ("The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence."). Reasonableness is determined by the "variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant," and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. "Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690); *see Dunn v. Reeves*, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (noting counsel's strategic decisions are to be afforded "'strong presumption' of reasonableness that the defendant must overcome); *Cullen v. Pinholster*, 563 U.S. 170, 189 (2011) (explaining a defendant must show defense counsel failed to act reasonably considering all the circumstances in order to overcome the presumption of adequate representation). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually "countless" ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Importantly, "[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Counsel's strategy will be reviewed under "an objective standard of reasonableness." *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002). Every effort must be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and evaluate counsel's decisions at the time they were made. *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 710 S.E.2d 60 (2011) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). To achieve this goal, an attorney's retrospective testimony that he would have done something differently may be disregarded if his actions at the time were in furtherance of an objectively reasonable strategy. *Id.* 392 S.C. 458, 710 S.E.2d at 65.

Though South Carolina has not yet developed robust authorities on ineffective assistance

of counsel claims concerning motions for reconsideration at sentencing hearings, other states have found that failure to file a motion to reconsider a sentence does not in and of itself constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Brooks*, 260 So.3d 713 (La. Ct. App. 2018). Where an applicant alleges that their counsel was ineffective for failing to move for reconsideration of a sentence, they must show that there is a reasonable probability that the motion would have resulted in a different sentence. *State v. Lee*, 636 So.2d 634 (La. Ct. App. 1994).

Respondent contends that Counsel utilized an objectively reasonable strategy in sentencing and, accordingly, was not deficient on this ground. Specifically, Counsel acted reasonably in sending another attorney to be present in his absence, after having the matter held in abeyance until he could be present, after consideration about the risks and benefits of proceeding forward, and after concluding that it would be impossible to have the transcript in time for the motion for reconsideration hearing. (App. 207-10, 337-39). At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that he moved to reconsider the sentence in front of Judge John, rather than Judge Cothran, because he believed that he would have a better chance of getting the sentence reconsidered. (App. 337-38). He stated that he thought that Judge John was going to reconsider the sentence when Judge John stated, on the record, that he had the authority to do so. (App. 210, 338). Though Counsel acknowledged he was unable to procure a transcript or mitigation witnesses because of the tight timeline, Counsel did present an otherwise reasonable argument in favor of reconsideration. Specifically, Counsel stated that Petitioner did not have a prior record, that all of his co-defendants had received a ten year sentence, and stated that he was a twenty-year-old resident of Horry County who was not married and did not have children. (App. 210). Thus, Counsel did everything that could be reasonably be demanded under the circumstances and

should not be found deficient as a result.

Even if Counsel was deficient on this ground, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the deficiency. Beyond presenting positive statements about Petitioner from several individuals with close, personal relationships with him, Petitioner has failed to show any evidence that could potentially have altered the Court's decision not to reconsider the sentence. Further, Petitioner has failed to meet its burden of proof in showing that this evidence would, in fact, have altered the decision on the motion to reconsider the sentence. Conversely, based upon the Court's findings at the motion for reconsideration hearing, this likely would not have made a difference. Judge John stated he made his determination to leave the initial sentence intact based upon the fact that he was not the trial judge, that armed robbery carries up to thirty years' imprisonment and is classified as violent and most serious, and the facts and circumstances concerning Petitioner's involvement as presented by the State at the hearing. (App. 213). Based upon those considerations, procurement of the transcript of the trial that caused Judge Cothran to set the initial sentence or presentation of several mitigation witnesses with significant personal ties to Petitioner likely would not have led the Court to change the sentence. Thus, even if Counsel was deficient, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the deficiency. Accordingly, relief should be denied on this ground.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above argument and record before this Court, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny the petition for writ of certiorari and affirm the lower court's ruling. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests an opportunity for further briefing of the issues addressed herein.